DISTRICT II

COURT OF APPEALS

STEVEN T. KILIAN,

Plaintiff-Appellant-Cross-Respondent,

Appeal No. 2009AP000538 (Waukesha County Circuit Court Case No. 07-CV-1869)

ν.

MERCEDES-BENZ USA, LLC, and DAIMLERCHRYSLER FINANCIAL SERVICES AMERICAS, LLC, d/b/a Mercedes-Benz Financial,

Defendants-Respondents-Cross-Appellants.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT, STEVEN T. KILIAN

ON APPEAL FROM CIRCUIT COURT FOR WAUKESHA COUNTY THE HONORABLE RALPH M. RAMIREZ PRESIDING

AIKĘN & SCOPTUR, S.C.

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Appellant-

Cross-Respondent

By:

TIMOTHY J. AİKEN State Bar No. 1015763

VINCENT P. MEGNA

State Bar No. 1013041

SUSAN M. GRZESKOWIAK

State Bar No. 1031586

MAILING ADDRESS:

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED

I. When a lessee consumer offers to return a motor vehicle having a nonconformity to the manufacturer in exchange for a refund calculated in accordance with the Wisconsin Lemon Law, sec. 218.0171, Wis. Stats., must the manufacturer provide the refund to the motor vehicle lessor and the refund to the lessee consumer within 30 days of that offer?

Answered by the Trial Court: No.

II. Can a consumer seek purely equitable relief under sec. 218.0171(7), Wis. Stats., for a violation of sec. 218.0171(2)(cm)3., Wis. Stats., thereby justifying an attorney fee award?

Answered by the Trial Court: No.

III. Do pre-suit attorney fees and costs qualify as a pecuniary loss under sec. 218.0171(7), Wis. Stats. for a violation of sec. 218.0171(2)(cm)3., Wis. Stats.?

Answered by the Trial Court: No.

IV. If a motor vehicle lessor employs economic defamation in its attempts to enforce a lease, are the defamation damages suffered by the lessee a pecuniary loss under sec. 218.0171(7), Wis. Stats.?

Answered by the Trial Court: No.

V. If a motor vehicle lessor employs economic defamation in its attempt to enforce a lease, are the inconvenience damages suffered by the lessee a pecuniary loss under sec. 218.0171(7), Wis. Stats.?

Answered by the Trial Court: No.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT

Oral argument on the issues presented would be beneficial to allow the parties to develop the issues and arguments more fully than if limited to the briefs of the parties.

STATEMENT ON PUBLICATION

Publication of the decision in accordance with sec. 809.23, Wis. Stats., is warranted as this case involves issues not yet discussed in any reported decision and will clarify existing law.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 10, 2007, the Appellant-Cross-Respondent, Steven Kilian, commenced this action against Mercedes-Benz USA, LLC (hereinafter "Mercedes") for violation of sec. 218.0171(2)(b), Wis. Stats. and DaimlerChrysler Financial Services Americas, LLC, d/b/a Mercedes-Benz Financial (hereinafter "Mercedes Financial"), for violation of sec. 218.0171(2)(cm), Wis. Stats. (R. 1.)

On March 21, 2008, Mercedes filed a Motion to Dismiss and Motion for Summary Judgment. (R. 26-28, R. 30, R. 33.) Mercedes Financial also filed a Motion to Dismiss and a Motion for Summary Judgment on March 21, 2008. (R. 24-25, R. 29, R. 31-32, 33.) Mr. Kilian filed a Motion for Summary Judgment on March 24, 2008. (R. 38-41.)

On May 23, 2008, the trial court issued a written decision denying the parties respective motions, without conducting a hearing. (R. 57.) There was a judicial transfer due to judicial rotation on August 4, 2008.

The trial court conducted a pretrial conference on August 6, 2008. The parties agreed that further motion proceedings were appropriate as there were no material facts in dispute. On September 12, 2008, Mr. Kilian filed a Supplemental Motion for Summary Judgment. (R. 60-62.) On September 15, 2008, Mercedes and Mercedes Financial filed a joint Motion for Reconsideration. (R. 63.)

A hearing was held on October 7, 2008. The trial court denied Mr. Kilian's motion, denied the Motion for Reconsideration as to Mercedes Financial, and granted the Motion for Reconsideration as to Mercedes. (R. 93; App. 110-172.) An order was entered on December 15, 2008. (R. 77; App. 173-174.)

On December 8, 2008, Mercedes Financial filed a Motion to Strike Claim for Damages, along with a Motion for Costs and Attorneys' Fees on behalf of both Mercedes Financial and Mercedes. (R. 72-74.) A hearing was held on January 16, 2009. The trial court granted the Motion to Strike Claim for Damages but denied the Motion for Costs and Attorneys' Fees. (R. 94; App. 175-216.) A judgment was entered on February 6, 2009. (R. 88-89; App. 217-219.)

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On March 21, 2006, Mr. Kilian leased a 2007 Mercedes-Benz S550V LWB from Concours Motors, Inc. He entered into a thirty-nine month lease agreement with Mercedes Financial at the rate of \$1,826.12 per month. (R. 39: 4-6; App. 101, 104-106.)

After taking delivery of the vehicle, Mr. Kilian experienced numerous problems, which prompted him to seek relief under the Wisconsin Lemon Law.

On April 11, 2007, Mr. Kilian sent Mercedes a Motor Vehicle Lemon Law Notice offering to return his vehicle in exchange for a refund calculated in accordance with the Wisconsin Lemon Law. (R. 38: 4-8.) Mercedes received the notice on April 16, 2007. (R. 38: 9.) On May 1, 2007, Mercedes agreed to provide Mr. Kilian with a refund calculated in accordance with the Wisconsin Lemon Law pursuant to sec. 218.0171(2)(b)3.a., Wis. Stats. (R. 38: 9-10.)

On May 7, 2007, Mr. Kilian notified Mercedes that he was willing to accept the sum Mercedes offered to him as a refund of the amount he paid under the written lease. (R. 38: 11.) On May 10, 2007, Mr. Kilian returned the subject vehicle to Mercedes at Concours Motors, Inc. (R. 39: 1; App. 101.) Mr. Kilian received a check in the sum of \$20,847.87 from Mercedes. (R. 39: 2, 7; App. 102, 107.)

Subsequent to Mr. Kilian's return of the vehicle to Mercedes, he began receiving telephone calls, including daily telephone calls for a period of time, from representatives of Mercedes Financial demanding payment under the Motor Vehicle Lease Agreement. (R. 39: 2; App. 102.) On several occasions, Mr. Kilian explained very clearly to the representatives of Mercedes Financial that he returned the vehicle under the Lemon Law. (R. 39: 2; App. 102; R. 40: 26.) On one occasion, the Mercedes Financial representative responded to Mr. Kilian that the return of the vehicle under the Lemon Law was between him and the dealership and that he had a financial obligation to Mercedes Financial. (R. 39: 2; App. 102.)

Mr. Kilian made numerous attempts to resolve this matter short of litigation. Mr. Kilian personally contacted Joe Tolfa of Concours Motors, Inc. by telephone seeking assistance in having the vehicle lease terminated. (R. 39: 2; App. 102.) Further, on June 15, 2007, Mr. Kilian sent letters directed to Mercedes Financial, Mercedes, and their counsel, notifying them that Mr. Kilian was receiving daily telephone calls from Mercedes Financial and that the failure of Mercedes to payoff the lease violated the Wisconsin Lemon Law. (R. 38: 30-41.) On June 20, 2007, Mercedes Financial sent a letter in response advising that it would refrain from further contact with Mr. Kilian, and apologizing for the telephone calls Mr. Kilian received. (R. 38: 42.) On June 26, 2007, Mr. Kilian sent a second letter to Mercedes Financial, with a copy to its counsel, requesting that Mercedes Financial terminate the lease and provide Mr. Kilian with confirmation of same. (R. 38: 43-45.) Despite Mr. Kilian's requests, the lease was not terminated by Mercedes Financial or paid off by Mercedes.

Mr. Kilian subsequently received a Mercedes Financial "Federal Legal Notice" dated July 1, 2007, threatening to report negative information about his lease account to credit bureaus. (R. 39: 8; App. 108.) In fact, Mercedes Financial did report information to credit bureaus regarding Mr. Kilian's lease account. (R. 38: 29.) Mr. Kilian also received a payment notice from Mercedes Financial dated July 2, 2007, seeking payment of \$5,478.36. (R. 39: 9; App. 109.) Mercedes Financial admitted sending the notices to Mr. Kilian. (R. 38: 16, 17.)

Mercedes Financial also admitted that it contacted Mr. Kilian seeking payment under the Motor Vehicle Lease Agreement subsequent to his return of the vehicle on May 10, 2007. (R. 38: 18, 27.) In addition, Mercedes Financial admitted that Mr. Kilian was not obligated to make any further lease payments nor was Mercedes Financial entitled to receive any further lease payments subsequent to May 10, 2007. (R. 38: 19.)

Mr. Kilian filed suit on July 10, 2007 when it became apparent that his efforts to resolve the situation without resorting to litigation were unsuccessful.

Mercedes finally refunded the current value of the written lease by sending a check in the sum of \$95,252.37 to Mercedes Financial for the payoff of Mr. Kilian's lease on August 29, 2007. (R. 38: 21-23.)

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Summary judgment decisions are subject to de novo review, with the Court of Appeals applying the same methodology as the trial court. Kiss v. General Motors Corp., 2001 WI App 122, ¶ 9, 246 Wis. 2d 364, 630 N.W.2d 742 (Ct.App. 2001). Similarly, dismissal of a claim and the application of a statute to undisputed facts is reviewed de novo. Notz v. Everett Smith Group, Ltd., 2009 WI 30, ¶ 16, 764 N.W.2d 904, 909 (2009); DOR v. Menasha Corp., 2008 WI 88, ¶ 44, 311 Wis. 2d 579, 754 N.W.2d 95 (2008).

ARGUMENT

Summary of Argument

This case began with Mr. Kilian's request for a refund calculated in accordance with the Wisconsin Lemon Law. Mercedes determined that his vehicle qualified as a "lemon," accepted his request and agreed to provide a refund. Unfortunately, it did not end there. Although he returned his vehicle pursuant to the Wisconsin Lemon Law, Mr. Kilian was harassed with demands for payment by Mercedes Financial to make payments on its lease – due to the fact that Mercedes failed to issue a refund to Mercedes Financial and payoff the lease according to statute.

The Wisconsin Lemon Law was clearly not intended to expose a consumer to collection efforts by a lessor as occurred herein. To the contrary, the purpose of the law was to provide an incentive for manufacturers to put the purchaser of a "lemon" back to the position the purchaser was in at the time they bought the car and to do so in a timely manner. Hughes v. Chrysler Motors Corp., 197 Wis. 2d 973, 977, 542 N.W.2d 148, 149 (1996); Church v. Chrysler Corp., 221 Wis. 2d 460, 468, 585 N.W.2d 685, 688 (Ct.App. 1998); Dieter v. Chrysler Corp., 2000 WI 45, 234 Wis. 2d 670, 684, 610 N.W.2d 832, 838 (2000). The trial court's ruling that Mercedes complied with the Wisconsin Lemon Law by providing a partial refund to Mr. Kilian, leaving him with an outstanding lease obligation of over \$95,000 and no vehicle, falls miserably short of restoring Mr. Kilian to the position he was in at the time he leased the vehicle.

The Wisconsin Legislature created important rights for consumers in enacting the Lemon Law, but the trial court's decisions have left Mr. Kilian without a remedy. Sec. 218.0171(2)(cm)3., Wis. Stats., provides that "no person may enforce the lease against the consumer after the consumer receives a refund." (Emphasis added). Either the Wisconsin Lemon Law requires Mercedes to pay off the lessor within the 30 day period – so that a lessor will not seek to collect on its lease, or Mr. Kilian must have a remedy against Mercedes Financial for causing him to incur expenses and other damages. Or, both remedies may exist.

Even without Mercedes Financial's collection defamation, a lease debt of \$95,000 would prohibit most consumers from purchasing another vehicle until that debt was expunged. Further, to rule that Mr. Kilian has no claim against anyone, would mean that the defamation to Mr. Kilian's credit reports and harassment – as well as attorney fees incurred both before suit and in suit – would go uncompensated contrary to the purposes of the Lemon law.

This Court must decide whether Mr. Kilian should be permitted to pursue a claim against Mercedes, Mercedes Financial, or both.

I. RELEVANT APPELLATE AUTHORITY DEMONSTRATES THAT MR. KILIAN HAS A REMEDY AGAINST MERCEDES

The primary issues in this case have already been addressed by the Court of Appeals and can be resolved by applying existing case law. Significantly, the trial court did not follow the relevant appellate decisions and neither addressed nor distinguished this case in its decisions.

Mr. Kilian's claim against Mercedes for failure to provide the refund to both him and Mercedes Financial within the thirty day statutory period falls within the purview of <u>Varda v. General Motors Corp.</u>, 2001 WI App 89, 242 Wis. 2d 756, 626 N.W.2d 346 (Ct.App. 2001). <u>Varda</u> addressed the obligations of a manufacturer under sec. 218.0171(2)(b)3.a., Wis. Stats. ("(2)(b)3.a."), where a consumer leased a "lemon" vehicle. The Court of Appeals eliminated any doubt of what a manufacturer must do to comply with the Wisconsin Lemon Law in Varda. The Varda Court explicitly described a manufacturer's obligations:

The manufacturer's obligation when a consumer, as described in WIS. STAT. § 218.0171(1)(b)4, makes a demand are: acceptance of the return of the motor vehicle, refund to the lessor of the current value of the written lease, and refund to the consumer of the amount the consumer paid under the written lease plus any sales tax or collateral costs, less a reasonable use allowance. [Citation omitted.] **These are not presented as alternatives**, indicating that the legislature intended that **a manufacturer take all three steps** when a consumer as defined in subd. (1)(b)4 demands relief for a "lemon." Id., 242 Wis. 2d at 774, 626 N.W.2d at 356. (Emphasis added.)

The <u>Varda</u> Court plainly holds that a manufacturer must take "all three steps" of (2)(b)3.a. in order to comply with a consumer lessee's refund request. To complete "all three steps," the manufacturer **must** include a refund to the lessor, as described in <u>Varda</u> – regardless of a separate notice from the lessor.

Completing only two out of the three steps, as Mercedes did here, does not amount to compliance with the Wisconsin Lemon Law. Mercedes did not fulfill its statutory obligations in response to Mr. Kilian's refund request. Mercedes took back the vehicle from Mr. Kilian (STEP 1) and provided his portion of the refund

due (STEP 2), but failed to complete the transaction by neglecting to provide a timely refund to Mercedes Financial (STEP 3). (R. 39:1-2, 7; App. 101-102, 107.) By accepting Mercedes' argument, the trial court disregarded the directive of Varda that the requirements of (2)(b)3.a. are not presented as alternatives, and that all three requirements must be fulfilled by the manufacturer.

In addition, the recent Court of Appeals decision in Marquez v. Mercedes-Benz USA, LLC, 2008 WI App 70, 312 Wis. 2d 210, 751 N.W.2d 859 (Ct.App. 2008), is applicable to Mr. Kilian's claim against Mercedes. The Marquez Court found that the manufacturer (coincidentally Mercedes) was required to write two separate checks – one to the consumer and one to the bank – within the thirty day statutory period to comply with the refund requirement of the Wisconsin Lemon Law. Id., 312 Wis. 2d at 216, 751 N.W.2d at 862-863. Mercedes' obligation in this case is no different than in Marquez. In order to comply with the Lemon Law, Mercedes was required to provide the refund to Mr. Kilian and Mercedes Financial within thirty days of Mr. Kilian's request for a refund.

II. THE WISCONSIN LEMON LAW REQUIRES A
MANUFACTURER TO PROVIDE A REFUND TO BOTH A
LESSEE CONSUMER AND LESSOR WITHIN 30 DAYS OF
THE CONSUMER'S OFFER TO RETURN A "LEMON"
VEHICLE IN EXCHANGE FOR A REFUND

Throughout this litigation Mercedes disputed that Mr. Kilian could bring a claim for violation of the refund provision of (2)(b)3.a. because it did not pay the lessor. Ignoring Varda, Mercedes successfully argued that it was not required to provide a refund to Mercedes Financial in response to Mr. Kilian's request for a

refund and was only obligated to issue a refund to Mr. Kilian. The trial court failed to realize that – even without Mercedes Financial's collection efforts – a lease debt of \$95,000 would prohibit most consumers from purchasing another vehicle until that debt was expunged.

In granting summary judgment to Mercedes, the trial court found no violation of the Wisconsin Lemon Law by Mercedes despite Mercedes failure to provide a refund to Mercedes Financial:

Mercedes-Benz USA, given the circumstances, followed what was required of them and complied with 218.0171(2)(cm)1. The consumer offered to the manufacturer, returned the motor vehicle within 30 days after that offer, the manufacturer provided the refund to the consumer. So as a matter of law I'll find that Mr. Kilian does not have a violation of the so-called lemon law against Mercedes-Benz USA. (R. 93: 56; App. 165.)

The trial court noted that the Legislature made a distinction between consumers that purchase a vehicle and consumers that lease a vehicle. The trial court held that this distinction includes a requirement that a motor vehicle lessor must make its own request of the manufacturer in order to receive a refund.

A. A MANUFACTURER IS OBLIGATED TO PROVIDE A REFUND IN ACCORDANCE WITH SEC. 218.0171(2)(b)3.a., WIS. STATS.

The Wisconsin Lemon Law allows for consumers to obtain a refund where the consumer's vehicle has a nonconformity that has been subject to a reasonable attempt to repair. While the law sets forth different processes to obtain the refund depending upon whether the vehicle was purchased or leased by the consumer, the language of the refund provisions is nearly identical.

Subsection (2)(b) of the Wisconsin Lemon Law describes the obligations of manufacturers and provides a directive to manufacturers: "If after a reasonable attempt to repair the nonconformity is not repaired, the manufacturer *shall* carry out the requirement under subd. 2 or 3, whichever is appropriate." Sec. 218.0171(2)(b)1., Wis. Stats. (Emphasis added.) The provisions of subsection 2 apply to purchases and subsection 3 applies when the consumer leased the vehicle. Both subsections impose similar requirements upon manufacturers using parallel language:

LEASE

"...accept return of the motor vehicle, refund to the motor vehicle lessor and to any holder of a perfected security interest in the motor vehicle, as their interests may appear, the current value of the written lease and refund to the consumer the amount the consumer paid under the written lease plus any sales tax and collateral costs, less a reasonable allowance for use." Sec. 218.0171(2)(b)3.a., Wis. Stats.

PURCHASE

"Accept return of the motor vehicle and refund to the consumer and to any holder of a perfected security interest in the consumer's motor vehicle, as their interest may appear, the full purchase price plus any sales tax, finance charge, amount paid by the consumer at the point of sale and collateral costs, less a reasonable allowance use." for Sec 218.0171(2)(b)2.b., Wis. Stats.

Regardless of whether the consumer purchased or leased the "lemon" vehicle, the manufacturer is required to accept return of the vehicle and provide a refund.

The law is clear in a lease situation that the manufacturer must take all three steps – including refunds to the lessor and the consumer – in order to comply with the Lemon Law. *See* <u>Varda</u>, 242 Wis. 2d at 774, 626 N.W.2d at 356. The requirement that the manufacturer provide a refund to both the consumer and

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