RECEIVED

WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS 08-12-2009

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

STEVEN T. KILIAN,

Plaintiff-Appellant-Cross-Respondent,

v.

Appeal No. 2009AP000538

MERCEDES-BENZ USA, LLC, and DAIMLER CHRYSLER FINANCIAL SERVICES AMERICAS, LLC, d/b/a Mercedes-Benz Financial,

Defendants-Respondents-Cross-Appellants.

Appeal from the Circuit Court for Waukesha County, the Honorable Ralph M. Ramirez, Circuit Court Judge,
Presiding
Circuit Court Case No: 2007-CV-1869

RESPONSE BRIEF OF DEFENDANTS-RESPONDENTS-CROSS-APPELLANTS MERCEDES-BENZ USA, LLC, AND MERCEDES-BENZ FINANCIAL

Patrick L. Wells, SBN 1023290
Thomas Armstrong, SBN 1016529
VON BRIESEN & ROPER, S.C.

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

ARGUMENT

WISCONSIN'S LEMON LAW, WIS. STAT. I. **UNAMBIGUOUSLY** § 218.0171(2)(cm)2., PROVIDES THAT A MANUFACTURER HAS NO DUTY TO MAKE A REFUND TO AN LATTER'S OWNER-LESSOR ABSENT THE TITLE TRANSFER TO THE OFFER TO MANUFACTURER.

WIS. Law." STAT. "Lemon Wisconsin's § 218.0171(2)(b), addresses two separate refund scenarios depending upon whether the consumer has purchased a "lemon," or whether the consumer has leased a "lemon." For purchases, the consumer may obtain a refund when a new motor vehicle does not conform to an express warranty, the consumer reports the nonconformity to the manufacturer or the manufacturer's agent, and makes the vehicle available for repair before the expiration of the warranty or one year after delivery of the vehicle, whichever is sooner. reasonable attempts, the nonconformity is not repaired, the consumer may demand a refund; once the consumer offers to

³ MBF's cross-appeal addresses the issue of whether Kilian continued his action against MBF after November 2007 in a frivolous manner, warranting sanctions under WIS. STAT. § 802.05.

transfer title to the manufacturer, the latter must provide that refund to the consumer within 30 days, and a separate refund to any holder of a perfected security interest in the vehicle.⁴ The refund must include the full purchase price plus any sales tax, finance charge, amount paid by the consumer at point of sale and collateral costs, less a reasonable allowance for use (determined by a statutory formula). See WIS. STAT. § 218.0171(2)(b)2.b. See also Tammi, supra, 2009 WI 83, ¶¶35-36. To obtain the refund, the consumer-purchaser must Wis. follow the procedure set forth in STAT. § 218.0171(2)(c):

To receive . . . a refund . . ., a consumer [purchaser] . . . shall offer to the manufacturer of the motor vehicle having the nonconformity to transfer title of that motor vehicle to the manufacturer. No later than 30 days after that offer, the manufacturer shall provide the consumer with the refund. When the manufacturer provides the . . refund, the consumer shall return the motor vehicle having the nonconformity to the manufacturer and provide the manufacturer with the certificate of title and all endorsements necessary to transfer title to the manufacturer.

See also Tammi, supra, 2009 WI 83, ¶36.

⁴ The manufacturer must be able to obtain the lender payoff information to enable it to write the separate check to the holder of a perfected security interest. See Marquez v. Mercedes-Benz USA, LLC, 2008 WI App 70, 312 Wis. 2d 210, 751 N.W.2d 859.

A different refund procedure applies where the "lemon" is leased by a consumer. Because, in such a case, the consumer does not actually own the vehicle, i.e., does not have title, the legislature provided separate refund procedures for the consumer-lessee and the owner-lessor. With respect to the former, Wis. STAT. § 218.0171(2)(cm)1., provides:

To receive a refund due under par. (b)3., [a] consumerlessee shall offer to the manufacturer of the motor vehicle having the nonconformity to return that vehicle to the manufacturer. No later than 30 days after that offer, the manufacturer shall provide the refund to the consumer. When the manufacturer provides the refund, the consumer shall return the motor vehicle having the nonconformity to the manufacturer.

See also Tammi, supra, 2009 WI 83, ¶42-44.

With respect to the owner-lessor's right to a refund of the current lease value, WIS. STAT. § 218.0171(2)(cm)2., provides:

To receive a refund due under par. (b)3., a motor vehicle lessor shall offer to the manufacturer of the motor vehicle having the nonconformity to transfer title of that motor vehicle to that manufacturer. No later than 30 days after that offer, the manufacturer shall provide the refund to the motor vehicle lessor. When the manufacturer provides the refund, the motor vehicle lessor shall provide to the manufacturer the certificate of title and all endorsements necessary to transfer title to the manufacturer.

See also Tammi, supra, 2009 WI 83, \P 43-44.

As noted, both WIS. STAT. § 218.0171(2)(cm)1., governing refunds to consumer-lessees, and WIS. STAT. § 218.0171(2)(cm)2., governing refunds to owner-lessors, identify WIS. STAT. § 218.0171(2)(b)3., as the statutory source for identifying the amount of the refund to which each is entitled. That statute provides:

- a. With respect to a [consumer-lessee], [the manufacturer must] accept return of the motor vehicle, refund to the motor vehicle lessor and to any holder of a perfected security interest in the motor vehicle, as their interest may appear, the current value of the written lease and refund to the consumer the amount the consumer paid under the written lease plus any sales tax and collateral costs, less a reasonable allowance for use.
- b. Under this subdivision, the current value of the written lease equals the total amount for which that lease obligates the consumer during the period of the lease remaining after its early termination, plus the motor vehicle dealer's early termination costs and the value of the motor vehicle at the lease expiration date if the lease sets forth that value, less the motor vehicle lessor's early termination savings.
- c. Under this subdivision, a reasonable allowance for use may not exceed the amount obtained by multiplying the total amount for which the written lease obligates the consumer by a fraction, the denominator of which is 100,000 and the numerator of which is the number of miles the consumer drove the motor vehicle before first reporting the nonconformity to the manufacturer, motor vehicle lessor or motor vehicle dealer.

See also Tammi, supra, 2009 WI 83, \P 39-40.

Although it is undisputed that MBF, the owner-lessor of Kilian's vehicle, did not offer to transfer title to MB, and did not seek any refund from MB, at any time prior to Kilian's filing his action on July 10, 2007, Kilian nevertheless claims that MB violated WIS. STAT. § 218.0171(2)(b)3.a. by not providing MBF with a refund of the current value of the lease within 30 days of Kilian's refund demand, which occurred on April 16, 2007 (Killian Br., pp. 4, 8-15).5 According to Kilian, under WIS. STAT. § 218.0171(2)(b)3.a., his refund demand triggered MB's duty to provide not only Kilian's refund, but also a duty to provide MBF with a simultaneous refund, even though MBF had not offered to transfer title of the vehicle to MB, as required by WIS. STAT. § 218.0171(2)(cm)2., and even though MBF had not sought any refund from MB. (Id.). Indeed, Kilian claims that even if MBF wished to retain title to the vehicle it owned, Kilian's refund demand compelled MBF to relinquish title to the vehicle. (*Id.*, at pp. 20-24).

MBF learned of Kilian's return of the vehicle to MB sometime between May 10, 2007 and June 15, 2007. (Kilian Br., pp. 4-5).

Kilian's proffered interpretation of WIS. STAT. WIS. STAT. § 218.0171(2)(b)3.a., only renders not § 218.0171(2)(cm)2. superfluous, it means that the Wisconsin legislature intended that consumer-lessees are entitled to force owner-lessors to relinquish title even if the latter desire to retain title. Such a strained interpretation of the Lemon Law would raise serious constitutional concerns that must be avoided if possible. The trial court correctly held that the Lemon Law unambiguously provides that the manufacturer has no statutory duty to provide a refund to an owner-lessor unless and until the latter offers to transfer title to the manufacturer. Indeed, the Wisconsin Supreme Court recently resolved this very issue in *Tammi*, supra, 2009 WI 83, ¶¶43-44:

In a typical lease situation, a financial institution -- the lessor -- has paid the manufacturer, and the lessor holds title to the motor vehicle during the term of the lease. The lessee has financial obligations to the lessor for a specific term. . . . In short, the financial obligation of the lessee is not as great as the financial obligation of a purchaser. This is why WIS. STAT. § 218.0171(2)(b)3.a. provides that the manufacturer must refund 'to the motor vehicle lessor' -- not the consumer lessee -- 'the current value of the written lease' and why the consumer lessee receives a refund of only 'the amount the consumer paid under the written lease plus any sales tax and collateral costs [as defined], less a reasonable allowance for use.'

Both the consumer and the lessor have obligations to the manufacturer that must be satisfied to receive a refund. The consumer-lessee must offer to return the motor vehicle to the manufacturer. WIS. STAT. § 218.0171(2)(cm)1. The lessor must offer to transfer the manufacturer. WIS. title to § 218.0171(2)(cm)2. This latter obligation may have been formalized in the contract between the lessor and the manufacturer. Once the consumer returns the vehicle and receives his refund under (2)(b)3., the lease becomes unenforceable against the consumer. § 218.0171(2)(cm)3. (emphasis added).

See also Varda v. GM Corp., 2001 WI App 89, ¶28, 242 Wis. 2d 756, 772, 626 N.W.2d 346 ("under subd. (2)(cm)2., the vehicle lessor must offer to and ultimately transfer to the manufacturer title to the vehicle.").

Wholly apart from *Tammi*, Kilian's claim that his refund demand obligated MB to provide a refund to MBF, and required the latter to relinquish title to MB, simply makes no sense. The purpose of statutory construction is to determine what the statute means so that it may be given its full, proper and intended effect. *Kolupar v. Wilde Pontiac Cadillac*, 2007 WI 98, ¶27, 303 Wis. 2d 258, 735 N.W.2d 93. As noted in *Kolupar*:

Statutory language is interpreted in the context in which it is used; not in isolation but as part of a whole; in relation to the language of surrounding or closely-related statutes; and reasonably, to avoid absurd or unreasonable results. . . .

Additionally, when multiple statutes address the same subject area, we read the statutes in *pari materia* such that both statutes will be operative. . . . If the potential for conflict between the statutes is present, we will read the statutes to avoid such a conflict if a reasonable construction exists.

Kolupar, ¶¶27-28. Indeed, as the Court of Appeals held in Varda, supra, 2001 WI App 89, ¶30, 242 Wis. 2d 756, 626 N.W.2d 346, each provision in the Lemon Law cannot be construed in isolation, but must be examined "in light of the entire statute."

Moreover, it is a well recognized principle of statutory interpretation that statutes should be interpreted to give meaning to each provision so that none is rendered superfluous, see, e.g., Marotz v. Hallaman, 2007 WI 89, ¶18, 302 Wis. 2d 428, 441, 734 N.W.2d 411, and that the court must interpret a statute to avoid unreasonable consequences if at all possible. *Id., see also, Kolupar, supra*, 2007 WI 98, ¶27; Strenke v. Hogner, 2005 WI 25, 279 Wis. 2d 52, 73, 64 N.W.2d 296; State v. Schaefer, 2008 WI 25, ¶55, 308 Wis. 2d 279, 307-08, 746 N.W.2d 457.

Kilian isolates a single provision in WIS. STAT. § 218.0171(2)(b) -- WIS. STAT. § 218.0171(2)(b)3.a. -- providing that upon direction of the consumer-lessee, the

manufacturer "must accept return of the motor vehicle, refund to the motor vehicle lessor . . . the current value of the written lease and refund to the [consumer-lessee] the amount the consumer paid under the written lease plus any sales tax and collateral costs, less a reasonable allowance for use," and claims that this single passage means that even if the ownerlessor does not offer to transfer title, a manufacturer must make a refund of the current value of the lease to the ownerlessor when the consumer-lessee demands a refund of lease payments and returns the vehicle to the manufacturer. (Kilian Br., pp. 11-15). Kilian insists that if this were not so, WIS. STAT. § 218.0171(2)(b)3.a. "is rendered superfluous. There would be no purpose served by subsection (2)(b)3.a. as the duties of the consumer-lessee, lessor and manufacturer would be dictated by (2)(cm)1. and 2." (*Id.*, at p. 17).

Kilian's argument is spurious, WIS. STAT. § 218.0171(2)(b)3.a. must be viewed in the context of WIS. STAT. §§ 218.0171(2)(b)3.b. and 3.c., as well as WIS. STAT. §§ 218.0171(2)(cm)2., and (2)(cm)3. WIS. STAT. §§ 218.0171(2)(b)3.a., b., and c., describe *who* obtains a refund, i.e., the consumer-lessee and the owner-lessor, and

what is to be refunded to the consumer-lessee and the owner-lessor when each has made a proper refund demand, which is governed by WIS. STAT. §§ 218.0171(2)(cm)1. and 218.0171(2)(cm)2., respectively.

Kilian's proffered interpretation to the contrary, requiring the manufacturer to provide a refund to the owner-lessor at the same time the consumer-lessee obtains a refund of lease payments, and requiring the owner-lessor to relinquish title to the vehicle regardless of whether it desires to do so, nullifies Wis. STAT. § 218.0171(2)(cm)2., whi ch unambiguously requires the owner-lessor to offer title to the manufacturer as a condition to obtaining any refund. Kilian would simply read that legislative requirement out of the statute where a consumer-lessee requests a refund.

Additionally, Kilian's proffered interpretation would cause a manufacturer to be liable for another person's violation of WIS. STAT. § 218.0171(2)(cm)3., which precludes anyone from enforcing any lease against a

consumer-lessee after the latter receives a refund.⁶ Kilian thus would hold a manufacturer legally responsible for any violation of that statute by a lessor regardless of whether the manufacturer has any control over the lessor, or is even aware of the lessor's violation of the statute. This makes no sense.

Kilian's proffered interpretation of WIS. STAT. also poses serious constitutional § 218.0171(2)(b)3.a., concerns. According to Kilian, a consumer-lessee, by simply demanding a refund of lease payments from the manufacturer and returning the vehicle to the manufacturer, may legally compel the owner-lessor to relinquish title to the vehicle, even if it wishes to retain that title. The owner-lessor has an ownership interest in the vehicle which cannot be nullified simply because the consumer-lessee is entitled to void the lease. Both United States and Wisconsin Constitutions forbid the taking of property without due process, and the Wisconsin legislature has not expressed any legitimate state interest requiring an owner's property to be forfeited simply because

⁶ Whether an overdue notice or a telephone call seeking collection of an overdue lease payment violates WIS. STAT. § 218.0171(2)(cm)3. is not at issue. See n. 2, supra. For purposes of this appeal, MBF will simply assume, arguendo, that it is.

the consumer-lessee is entitled to cancel the lease and obtain a refund of lease payments from the manufacturer.

Despite this fact, Kilian argues: "In a purchase situation, when a consumer returns a vehicle that was purchased, under subsection (2)(b)2.b., a manufacturer must provide a refund to both the consumer and the holder of any perfected security interest. . . . As set forth above, subsections (2)(b)2.b. [governing purchases] and (2)(b)3.a. [governing leases] mirror one another. There is absolutely no basis to interpret them differently." (Kilian Br., p. 13). Kilian could not be more mistaken. The legal difference between ownership of private property and possession of a security interest in another's property is basic and well recognized. The latter interest is contractual, and is satisfied by performance of the contract -- i.e., satisfaction or payment of the security interest. A security interest is not ownership of property -- a principle firmly established in the law and Wis. STAT. dispute. See. e.g., beyond rational Jur. 2d, Secured § 401.201(37)(a), and 68A, Am. Transactions, § 31 (the purpose of a security interest in property is to secure payment or performance of an obligation.).

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